S186149

SUPREME COURT FILED

Court of Appeal No. D055422

SEP - 9 2010

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

OF THE STATE	OF CALIFORNIA Deputy
PINNACLE MUSEUM TOWER) CIVIL NO.
ASSOCIATION,	
) [Fourth District Court
Plaintiff/Respondent,) of Appeal, Division One,
•) Case No. D055422]
V.) [San Diego County
) Superior Court Case No.
PINNACLE MARKET	37-2008-00096678-
DEVELOPMENT (US), LLC, et al.,) CU-CD-CTL,
) Hon. Ronald L. Styn]
Defendants and Appellants.)
•)
•	
PETITION 1	FOR REVIEW

the Honorable Ronald L. Styn

Daniel A. Berman (SBN 161696)
R. Gregory Amundson (SBN 79710)
Sheila E. Fix (SBN 138613)
Tracy Lewis (SBN 232985)
Wood, Smith, Henning & Berman LLP

IV.	STATEMENT OF FACTS			
V.	ARGUMENT4			
	A. B.	THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION CREATES A CONFLICT AMONG PUBLISHED CALIFORNIA CASES REGARDING WHETHER ARBITRATION PROVISIONS IN CC&Rs ARE AGREEMENTS THAT BIND HOAS THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION CREATES A CONFLICT BETWEEN CALIFORNIA AND FEDERAL CASE LAW REGARDING THE ENFORCEABILITY OF ARBITRATION PROVISIONS THAT ARE SUBJECT TO THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT		
VI.	PRAY	YER	13	
CERT	'IFICA'	TE RE LENGTH OF BRIEF	14	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Page</u>
CASES
Allied-Bruce Terminex Cos., Inc. v. Dobson (1995) 513 U.S. 265, 270, 272, 277, 281; 115 S.Ct. 834, 838, 841, 843
Basura v. U.S. Home Corp. (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 1205, 1212
Doctor's Associates, Inc. v. Casarotto (1996) 517 U.S. 681, 687; 116 S.Ct. 1652, 1656
Frances T. v. Village Green Owners Association (1986) 42 Cal.3d 490, 512-513
Treo @ Kettner Homeowners Association v. Superior Court (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 1055, 1066-1067
Villa Milano Homeowners Association v. Il Davorge (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 819, 819, 825-826
STATUTES
9 U.S.C. § 2
California Civil Code, Section 945
Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA," 9 U.S.C. §1 <i>et seq.</i>)
RULES
California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PINNACLE MUSEUM TOWER)	CIVIL NO.
ASSOCIATION,)	
)	[Fourth District Court
Plaintiff/Respondent,)	of Appeal, Division One,
)	Case No. D055422]
v.)	[San Diego County
)	Superior Court Case No.
PINNACLE MARKET)	37-2008-00096678-
DEVELOPMENT (US), LLC, et al.,)	CU-CD-CTL,
)	Hon. Ronald L. Styn]
Defendants and Appellants.)	• •
	PETITION FOR REVIEW

Defendants/Appellants PINNACLE MARKET DEVELOPMENT (US),
LLC; PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL (US), LLC; PINNACLE MARKET
DEVELOPMENT (CANADA), LTD.; MICHAEL DE COTIIS; and APRIANO
MEOLA (together, "Appellants") respectfully petition this Court for review as
follows:

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Do recorded covenants, conditions and restrictions ("CC&Rs") for common interest developments constitute contractual agreements that bind the residents' homeowners association ("HOA")?
- 2. When a matter is subject to the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA," 9 U.S.C. §1 et seq.), may a California court apply state law to treat the contractual arbitration provision differently from other provisions in the same agreement?

, , ,

II. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

This Petition seeks review under <u>California Rules of Court</u>, Rule 8.500(b), paragraph (1), "to secure uniformity of decision." Specifically, the decision in this matter created a conflict: (a) between published California opinions, as well as (b) between published California opinions and U.S. Supreme Court decisions.

(a) The published Court of Appeal opinion in this case held that recorded CC&Rs, at least with respect to arbitration provisions, are <u>not</u> binding agreements on HOAs. (Court of Appeal's Slip Opinion attached hereto, pages 6-18 [hereinafter Slip Opn. page) That holding directly conflicts with the published Court of Appeal opinion in *Villa Milano Homeowners Association v. Il Davorge* (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 819, 825-826, which held that recorded CC&Rs, including arbitration provisions, <u>are</u> agreements binding HOAs.

Notably, the majority, for Division One of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, that decided the instant case, published a similar holding in <u>Villa Vicenza</u> Homeowners Association v. Nobel Court Development, LLC, Case No. D054550 ("<u>Villa Vicenza</u>"). <u>Villa Vicenza</u> was originally published at 185 Cal.App.4th 23; 110 Cal.Rptr.3d 149; however, the Court of Appeal granted rehearing in <u>Villa Vicenza</u> on June 25, 2010.

Accordingly, review by the California Supreme Court is necessary to resolve a conflict between published California opinions.

(b) The published Court of Appeal opinion in this case nullified the subject arbitration provision, by applying state law to treat the arbitration

provision differently from other provisions in the same CC&Rs. (Slip Opn. 18-25) This directly violates U.S. Supreme Court instructions that arbitration provisions subject to the FAA, like the one at issue, cannot be treated differently from other provisions within the same agreement. *Allied-Bruce Terminex Cos., Inc. v. Dobson* (1995) 513 U.S. 265, 281; 115 S.Ct. 834, 843.

Accordingly, review by the California Supreme Court is needed because the decision in this matter creates a conflict between published California opinions and U.S. Supreme Court decisions.

III. STATUS OF COURT OF APPEAL OPINION

The Court of Appeal opinion in this case was filed July 30, 2010. It was published with a dissent at 187 Cal.App.4th 24; 113 Cal.Rptr.3d 399. No petition for rehearing was filed with the Court of Appeal.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Because of the procedural posture of this case, the facts relevant to this Petition can be stated concisely. Respondent is the HOA of a common interest development (Appellants' Appendix Volume I, page 283 [hereafter AA vol:page]) called "Pinnacle" that Appellants constructed using a great deal of out-of-state and foreign material (e.g., AA 1:168, 2:277). Respondents filed a construction defect lawsuit (AA 1:1-47) that Appellants sought to have arbitrated (AA 1:48 et seq., 1:159 et seq., 2:266 et seq.) pursuant to a provision in the CC&Rs (AA 2:254-256, 2:413-415). (See generally, Slip Opn. 2-5). The trial court denied Appellants'

motions to compel arbitration on June 5, 2010. (AA 2:469-471) Appellants timely appealed. (AA 2:473-476, 478-483)

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION CREATES A CONFLICT AMONG PUBLISHED CALIFORNIA CASES REGARDING WHETHER ARBITRATION PROVISIONS IN CC&Rs ARE AGREEMENTS THAT BIND HOAs

The majority of the Court of Appeal in this case held the CC&Rs "did not constitute an 'agreement' sufficient to waive the constitutional right to jury trial for construction defect claims brought by the homeowners association." (Slip Opn. 2) However, in direct contrast, in *Villa Milano*, Division Three of the Fourth District Court of Appeal explicitly held that CC&Rs are contractual agreements and that an arbitration clause in the CC&Rs was an agreement binding upon the HOA:

"The arbitration clause, as a provision of the Villa Milano CC&R's, is therefore a part of the contract between the parties. This, then answers the threshold question: There is an agreement to arbitrate." *Villa Milano*, 84 Cal.App.4th at 825-826.

In fact, the Court of Appeal's opinion in this case acknowledged this explicit conflict among published opinions:

"Pinnacle relies on *Villa Milano* to argue that California courts have consistently construed CC&R's as contracts.

(*Villa Milano*, *supra*, 84 Cal.App.4th 819.) The *Villa Milano* court concluded that an arbitration clause contained in the CC&R's of a condominium homeowners association was a sufficient agreement to require that the association's construction defect claims against the developer be submitted to arbitration. (*Id.* at pp. 825-826, fn. 4.) In *Treo*, we declined to follow that aspect of the opinion. (*Treo*, *supra*, 166 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1066-1067.) Here, we again decline to follow that aspect of *Villa Milano*." (Slip Opn. 10-11.)

Accordingly, the conflict between the instant opinion and *Villa Milano* is not the only one in this field. As the Court of Appeal's opinion states, *Treo* @ *Kettner Homeowners Association v. Superior Court* (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 1055, 1066-1067, held that parts of CC&Rs were not agreements binding on HOAs.

Importantly, in this case, the Court of Appeal's majority decision to follow *Treo @ Kettner* rather than *Villa Milano*, drew a dissent which also pointed out that this "issue has been answered differently in *Villa Milano*..." In fact, the dissenting Justice opined that *Villa Milano*, rather than *Treo @ Kettner*, had the "better reasoned conclusion." (Slip Opn. dissent 1)(Emphasis added.) Moreover, this Court in *Frances T. v. Village Green Owners Association* (1986) 42 Cal.3d

490, 512-513, held that CC&Rs, with the HOA's bylaws, were a contract in their entirety.

Thus, there is a direct conflict between published California cases regarding whether CC&Rs constitute contractual agreements that bind the HOA. *Villa Milano* holds that an arbitration provision is an agreement binding the HOA, while the opinion in this case as well as in *Treo @ Kettner* holds to the contrary and criticizes the reasoning of *Villa Milano*. However, the dissent in this case supports *Villa Milano* and indicates that it was the better reasoned opinion. Only the California Supreme Court can resolve this disagreement.

B. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION CREATES A CONFLICT BETWEEN CALIFORNIA AND FEDERAL CASE LAW REGARDING THE ENFORCEABILITY OF ARBITRATION PROVISIONS THAT ARE SUBJECT TO THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT

The FAA encourages the use of arbitration. According to the U.S. Supreme Court, "the basic purpose of the Federal Arbitration Act is to overcome courts' refusals to enforce agreements to arbitrate." *Allied-Bruce* 513 U.S. at 270; 115 S.Ct. at 838. The act is binding on state courts; it "preempts state law," and "state courts cannot apply state statutes that invalidate arbitration agreements." *Allied-Bruce*, 513 U.S. at 272; 115 S.Ct. at 838. According to the high court, the act "applies where there is 'a contract *evidencing a transaction* involving commerce." *Allied-Bruce*, 513 U.S. at 277; 115 S.Ct. at 841 (italics original). There is no

dispute that the project in question affects interstate commerce and is thus subject to the FAA. (Slip Opn. 6; see also AA 2:277)

The conflict at issue arises from an exception in the FAA, which provides that states may apply "generally applicable contract defenses" such as unconscionability, to arbitration provisions. *Doctor's Associates, Inc. v. Casarotto* (1996) 517 U.S. 681, 687; 116 S.Ct. 1652, 1656. However, states may not apply these "generally applicable contract defenses" to treat arbitration provisions differently from other provisions of the same agreement; if a "generally applicable contract defense" would invalidate an arbitration provision, then it would invalidate the entire agreement. According to the U.S. Supreme Court:

"In any event, § 2 gives States a method for protecting consumers against unfair pressure to agree to a contract with an unwanted arbitration provision. States may regulate contracts, including arbitration clauses, under general contract law principles and they may invalidate an arbitration clause "upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of *any* contract." 9 U.S.C. § 2 (emphasis added). What States may not do is decide that a contract is fair enough to enforce all its basic terms (price, service, credit), but not fair enough to enforce its arbitration clause. The Act makes any such state policy unlawful, for that kind of policy would place arbitration clauses on an unequal "footing,"

directly contrary to the Act's language and Congress' intent."

Allied-Bruce, 513 U.S. at 281; 115 S.Ct. at 843.

California has acknowledged that it may not apply statutes specific to arbitration so as to invalidate arbitration clauses subject to the FAA. *Basura v. U.S. Home Corp.* (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 1205, 1212. However, the U.S. Supreme Court did not only bar the application of statutes specific to arbitration. The U.S. Supreme Court also expressly barred differential treatment between an arbitration provision and other "basic terms" within the same contract. Specifically, the U.S. Supreme Court held that if "a contract is fair enough to enforce all its basic terms (price, service, credit)," then it must be "fair enough to enforce its arbitration clause." *Allied-Bruce*, 513 U.S. at 281; 115 S.Ct. at 843.

Unfortunately, the Court of Appeal's opinion in this case did "decide that a contract was fair enough to enforce all its basic terms (price, service, credit), but not fair enough to enforce its arbitration clause." The Court of Appeal's opinion therefore inconsistently applied the principle of unconscionability to nullify only the arbitration provision of the CC&Rs, even though the facts the Court of Appeal relied upon were equally apply to the balance of the CC&Rs. The Court of Appeal's opinion is replete with this double standard.

For example, the Court of Appeal held the CC&Rs are unconscionable because they are too long and might not have been given to buyers:

"The CC&R's are 50 pages long. Without specific evidence showing when Pinnacle made the CC&R's available for

examination, and when Pinnacle provided purchasers with a copy of the CC&R's, we cannot conclude that the CC&R's were readily or easily obtainable so as to be properly incorporated by reference into the purchase and sale agreements." (Slip Opn. 21-22)

The length of the CC&Rs and any uncertainty about whether buyers saw the document, applies to the CC&Rs in its entirety, including basic terms.

However, the Court of Appeal relied on these points to nullify only the arbitration clause. The rest of the CC&Rs remain valid, as they plainly are.

Similarly, the Court of Appeal believed the CC&Rs were unconscionable because recording them might not have made them readily obtainable to read:

"Assuming the CC&R's had been recorded before the sale of the first condominium, we cannot conclude that recording a document qualifies as making the document readily or easily obtainable." (Slip Opn. 22)

All of the CC&Rs were recorded as a unit, so this concern of the Court of Appeal should have applied to the entire document. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal used it only to nullify the arbitration clause, leaving the rest of the CC&Rs valid.

The Court of Appeal also found that the absence of reflection invalidated the arbitration provision:

"We concluded that . . . a jury waiver required actual notice and meaningful reflection . . . " (Slip Opn. 12)

Yet the absence of reflection, which would have affected the entire document, only caused the invalidation of the arbitration provision. Indeed, the absence of reflection for a jury waiver *necessarily* only related to the arbitration provision; it could not have affected, for example, the CC&Rs' use restrictions or inspection provisions.

The Court of Appeal further held that the jury waiver of the CC&Rs was unconscionable because it was "part of preprinted materials presented on a take-it-or-leave-it basis to purchasers without any negotiation." (Slip Opn. 22) Yet the fact the CC&Rs were "presented on a take-it-or-leave-it basis" did not nullify any of the other basic terms, but only operated to nullify the arbitration provision, even though the entire document was presented to buyers as a unit. (Slip Opn. 23)

In fact, the Court of Appeal expressly acknowledged the document in question is a contract for most purposes, just not for arbitration:

"Finally, our adherence to the principles articulated in *Treo* does not create any uncertainty regarding the circumstances when CC&R's will be characterized as contracts and when they will not be characterized as contracts. As *Treo* clearly stated, "CC&R's can reasonably be 'construed as a contract' and provide a means for analyzing a controversy arising under the CC&R's when the issue involved is the operation or

governance of the association or the relationships between owners and between owners and the association." (Slip Opn.

13)

The Court of Appeal's opinion also applied this same double standard to a related statutory provision, California Civil Code, Section 945. According to the Court of Appeal, under Civil Code, Section 945 HOAs are bound as successors in interest:

"Section 945 provides: "The provisions, standards, rights, and obligations set forth in this title are binding upon all original purchasers and their successors-in-interest. For purposes of this title, associations and others having the rights set forth in Section 1368.3 and 1368.4 shall be considered to be original purchasers and shall have standing to enforce the provisions, standards, rights, and obligations set forth in this title.""

(Slip Opn. 14-15, italics in Slip Opn.)

Unless the situation relates to an arbitration provision:

"Thus, our statement that section 945 creates the requisite privity with a builder to assert a breach of implied warranty cause of action for damage to common areas cannot be interpreted to create the necessary privity of contract for the purpose of creating a binding arbitration agreement in CC&R's." (Slip Opn. 15)

What the Court of Appeal did here was apply a general rule, as allowed by the U.S. Supreme Court, to reach its conclusion; however the Court of Appeal only applied this general rule to the subject arbitration provision, which the U.S. Supreme Court has expressly prohibited for matters subject to the FAA, like the one at issue. Thus, the Court of Appeal applied the California state law doctrine of unconscionability to nullify only the arbitration provision in the CC&Rs even though the facts and principles identified by the Court of Appeal are equally applicable to the rest of the document. Certainly, the basic terms of the CC&Rs cannot be considered unconscionable; accordingly, it was improper to isolate the arbitration provision from other provisions in the CC&Rs to determine it, alone, was unconscionable.

Moreover, as the dissenting opinion for this matter pointed out, the arbitration provision is <u>not</u> unconscionable. (Slip Opn. dissent 1)

In fact, the only reason the Court of Appeal's majority reached a different conclusion was because they inconsistently and selectively applied the doctrine of unconscionability to the arbitration provision, alone, while avoiding its application to the basic terms of the document. In agreements that are subject to the FAA, like the one at issue, the U.S. Supreme Court has prohibited what the Court of Appeal has done.

/// ///

VI. PRAYER

WHEREFORE, Appellants respectfully request that this Court grant

review.

Dated: September 7, 2010

WOOD, SMITH, HENNING & BERMAN LLP

By:

GREGORY AMUNDSON

SHEILA E. FIX TRACY LEWIS

Attorneys for Defendant/Appellants Pinnacle Market Development (US), LLC; Pinnacle International (US), LLC: Pinnacle Market Development (Canada), Ltd.; Michael De Cotiis; and Apriano Meola