IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP 1 7 2018

PINNACLE MUSEUM TOWER ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Case Number S186149

PINNACLE MARKET DEVELOPMENT (US), LLC, ET AL.,

[California Court of Appeal, Fourth Judicial District Division One Case No. D055422]

Defendants and Appellants.

San Diego County Superior Court No. 37-2008-00096678-CU-CD-CTL The Honorable Ronald L. Styn

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Daniel H. Clifford, 114302
Joseph Kaneda, 160336
Charles Fenton, 200764
Bruce Mayfield, 057730
FEINBERG GRANT MAYFIELD
KANEDA & LITT, LLP
Lakeshore Towers
18101 Von Karman Avenue, Suite 1940

INTRODUCTION

The petition for review in this unremarkable appeal by the unsuccessful respondent in a construction defect action challenges a judgment upholding the trial court's denial of a petition to compel arbitration.

Pinnacle was the developer of a multi-use condominium project located in a high-rise tower in downtown San Diego, California ("Subject Property") that is governed by the Association. Even before the Association was formed, Pinnacle drafted and recorded a declaration ("Declaration" or "CC&Rs") that required the Association to arbitrate all claims of defective construction of the Subject Property, and thereby waive the Association's right to trial by jury, that became effective when Pinnacle unilaterally deeded the common areas and other property to the Association. The CC&Rs prohibited an independent Association from amending only the arbitration provisions without Pinnacle's written approval.

After complying with all statutory pre-litigation requirements for construction defect claims, the Association brought a judicial action against Pinnacle. Pinnacle petitioned the trial court for an order compelling arbitration of the Association's claims, which petition was denied by the trial court and affirmed by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One.

In this petition Pinnacle contends review is necessary because: (1) the published opinion holding that arbitration provisions in the CC&Rs is not a contract for purposes of compelling arbitration is in conflict with the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Three's holding in *Villa Milano Homeowners Association v. Il Davorge* (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 819, 825-826, review denied (2001); and (2) the

published opinion violates the United States Supreme Court's instructions regarding the federal arbitration act ("FAA"), 9 U.S.C. § 2 because the published opinion singles out only the arbitration provisions while allowing the other CC&Rs provisions to remain enforceable.

Neither of these contentions have merit. There is no conflict between the published opinion and *Villa Milano* and the CC&Rs remain enforceable only in the governance of the Association and the relationship between the Association and owners and between owners in which Pinnacle has no interest.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

l.

THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR THIS COURT'S REVIEW.

Review should be denied because this case presents neither an important question of law nor a necessity to secure uniformity of decision. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.51(a)(1).) In its attempt to create an artificial conflict between the instant opinion and Villa Milano, the petitioner ignored or overlooked the important fact that in Villa Milano, after finding that the arbitration provision hidden in the prolix CC&Rs was a contract as between the association and the developer, the court found the "contract" was unenforceable as being procedurally and substantively unconscionable. (Villa Milano, 84 Cal.App.4th at p. 835.) In the instant decision, the Court of Appeal determined that the arbitration provision was not a contract as between the Association and Pinnacle, but, based on the assumption "that the Association is bound by the jury waiver provision contained in the purchase and sale agreements" (Slip Opn. 18) that merely referenced the arbitration provision in the CC&Rs, the court found the

arbitration provision was unconscionable and unenforceable. (Slip Opn. 19-25.) This is the same conclusion that the trial court reached.

The mere fact that in this case the court below found the arbitration provision was not a contract, and the Villa Milano court found that the arbitration provision before it was a contract is no basis for reversal or review. A decision correct in law "will not be disturbed on appeal merely because given for a wrong reason." (D'Amico v. Board of Medical Examiners (1974) 11 Cal.3d 1, 19.) On the one hand, the Villa Milano court concluded that the arbitration provision was an unenforceable contract and on the other hand the court below found that if this arbitration provision is a contract, it is unenforceable. Accordingly, there is no meaningful conflict between Villa Milano and the instant opinion.

Furthermore, Pinnacle's reference to Treo@Kettner Homeowners Association v. Superior Court (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 1055, 1066-1067, review denied (2008) is unwarranted. As Pinnacle argued in the court below, the question in Treo was whether a provision in the CC&Rs was a contract for purposes of enforcement of a judicial reference pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 638. (Id. at p. 1067; see also Slip Opn. 12-13.) Treo had nothing to do with the enforcement of arbitration provisions and pursuant to the FAA, the court below refused to make the constitutional analysis, based on Grafton Partners v. Superior Court (2005) 36 Cal.4th 944, in this case that it made in Treo. (Slip Opn. 7.)

The Court of Appeal correctly noted "other than Villa Milano, we are aware of no California cases treating CC&Rs as a contract between anyone other than as between owners, or between owners and a

homeowners association." In other words, there is no necessity to secure uniformity of decision.

II.

THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT.

Pinnacle urges review because the Court of Appeal, as Pinnacle contends, invalidated the arbitration provision while letting the other provisions stand in violation of the United States Supreme Court decision in *Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson* (1995) 513 U.S. 265, 281. (Petition **.)¹ This contention has no merit.

As explained in Nahrstedt v. Lakeside Village Condominium Association, Inc. (1994) 8 Cal.4th 361, 372-377, CC&Rs are equitable servitudes for the governance of common interest development communities that are enforceable "by any owner of a separate interest or by the association, or by both." (Civ.Code, § 1354, subd. (a).) In the instant case, Pinnacle has disposed of all of its property interests in the Subject Property.

The arbitration provisions in the CC&Rs are limited to resolution of construction disputes between the Association and/or the owners and Pinnacle. These provisions have absolutely no application to the governance of the Association or to the relationship either between the Association and the owners, or between owners. It is inconceivable that Pinnacle would have any interest in the enforcement of any of the other provisions of the CC&Rs, especially after it has completed its construction and marketing activities and sold, or otherwise disposed of all of its property interests.

¹ The petition is not paginated.

Accordingly, unlike the "basic terms" of price, service and credit addressed by *Allied-Bruce* that exist and continue to bind the contracting parties upon elimination of an arbitration provision, the remaining provisions of the CC&Rs are totally independent of the arbitration provisions that purportedly create a "contract" between the Association and Pinnacle and have no binding effect on the Association vis-à-vis Pinnacle. Said another way, the Court of Appeal eliminated the entire "contract" between the Association and Pinnacle and the instant decision does not run afoul of the High Court's instructions regarding the FAA.

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeal correctly affirmed the trial court's determination that the arbitration provisions hidden in the CC&Rs are unconscionable and unenforceable – exactly as did the *Villa Milano* court in the case that was before it. There is no meaningful difference between the two cases, nor does the instant decision conflict with any other published decision.

Because the arbitration provision was independent of the equitable servitudes that govern the Association, its elimination creates no conflict between California and federal law.

The petition for review must be denied.